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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors of JSC Associated Bank Kazakhstan Ziraat International
Bank

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of JSC Associated Bank Kazakhstan Ziraat
International Bank (the “Bank”), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
31 December 2012 and the statements of profit and loss and other comprehensive income, changes in
equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
34 Al-Farabi Ave., Building A, 4™ floor, 050059, Almaty, Kazakhstan
T: +7(727) 330-3200, F: +7 (727) 244 6868, www.pwc.com/kz
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)

Page 2

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

the Bank as at 31 December 2012, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Oriceesatericeese Cacpere LS

27 March 2013
Almaty, Kazakhstan
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Approved byfi" e s 2=, ;:’2;“ - Signed by:
MM% e
Aigule Akhmetova
o ewate Auditor in Charge
(General State License of the Ministry of Finance (Qualified Auditor’s Certifica
of the Republic of Kazakhstan N20000005 N200000083 dated 27 Augus

dated 21 October 1999)



AB KZI BANK JSC
Statement of Financial Position

31 December

31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2012 2011
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 7 3,845,379 3,778,944
Due from other banks 8 301,731 297,047
Loans and advances to customers 9 9,794,939 3,891,059
Repurchase receivable 10 3,947,949 -
Investment securities held to maturity 11 3,147,540 7,634,354
Property, plant and equipment 12 700,666 721,404
Intangible assets 13 137,296 30,760
Other assets 14 772,616 614,681
TOTAL ASSETS 22,648,116 16,968,249
LIABILITIES

Due to other banks 1,026 1,026
Customer accounts 15 5,465,812 5,238,073
Deferred tax liability 23 121,506 104,322
Other liabilities 16 27,464 19,762
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,615,808 5,363,183
EQUITY

Charter capital 17 15,000,000 10,000,000
Retained earnings 737,972 357,290
Reserves 18 1,084,434 1,022,714
Property, plant and equipment revaluation reserve 209,902 225,062
TOTAL EQUITY 17,032,308 11,605,066
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 22,648,116 16,968,249

s 5o
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Ari A. Zeki
CHairman of the Management Board
L

27 March 2013

4

Almagul Sarsenbayeva °

Chief Accountant

The acompanying notes on pages from 5 to 49 are the integral part of these financial statements.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Statement of Comprehensive Income

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2012 2011

Interest income 19 933,654 569,936

Interest expense 19 (773) (1,714)
Interest income, net 932,881 568,222

(Recovery of)/ provision for loan impairment 9 31,449 (55,073)
Net interest income after provision for loan impairment 964,330 513,149

Fee and commission income 20 524,854 448,369

Fee and commission expense 20 (23,707) (20,971)
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies 258,481 209,715

Gains less losses from foreign currency translation (12,118) (13,837)
Other operating income 21 39,294 25,820

Administrative and other operating expenses 22 (886,607) (766,072)
Profit before tax 864,527 396,173

Income tax expense 23 (164,987) (73,368)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 699,540 322,805

Other comprehensive income

Revaluation of premises and equipment 4,546 -

Other comprehensive income for the year 4,546 -

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 704,086 322,805

Basic and diluted earning per share (in Tenge per share) 24 77 53

The acompanying notes on pages from 5 to 49 are the integral part of these financial statements.



AB KZI BANK JSC

Statement of Changes in Equity

Note Share Property, Other  Retained Total
capital plant and reserves  earnings equity
equipment
revaluation
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge reserve
Balance at 31 December 2010 5,010,000 247,297 588,466 538,424 6,384,187
Comprehensive income for 2011 - - - 322,805 322,805
Share issue 17 4,990,000 - - - 4,990,000
Dividends declared 25 - - - (91,926) (91,926)
Transfer of building revaluation
surplus to retained earnings 18 - (22,235) - 22,235 -
Transfer from retained earnings to
other reserve of the Bank 18 - - 391,379 (391,379) -
Transfer from retained earnings to
capital reserve of the Bank 18 - - 42,869 (42,869) -
Balance at 31 December 2011 10,000,000 225,062 1,022,714 357,290 11,605,066
Profit for the year - - - 699,540 699,540
Other comprehensive income - 4,546 - - 4,546
Comprehensive income for 2012 - 4,546 - 699,540 704,086
Share issue 17 5,000,000 - - - 5,000,000
Dividends declared 25 - - - (276,844) (276,844)
Transfer of building revaluation
surplus to retained earnings 18 - (19,706) - 19,706 -
Transfer from retained earnings to
other reserve of the Bank 18 - - 71,543 (71,543) -
Transfer from reserve capital to
retained earnings of the Bank 18 - - (9,823) 9,823 -
Balance at 31 December 2012 15,000,000 209,902 1,084,434 737,972 17,032,308

The acompanying notes on pages from 5 to 49 are the integral part of these financial statements.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Statement of Cash Flows

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Note 2012 2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received 809,009 558,700
Interest paid (778) (1,714)
Fees and commissions received 518,722 448,369
Fees and commissions paid (23,707) (20,971)
Gains less losses from trading in foreign currencies 258,481 209,715
Other operating income received 21,655 25,820
Staff costs paid (485,345) (378,293)
Administrative and other operating expenses paid (280,303) (298,423)
Income tax paid (137,457) (39,684)
Cash from operating activities before changes in operating

assets and liabilities 680,277 503,519
Net increase in due from other banks (4,680) (297,047)
Net increase in loans and advances to customers (5,802,115) (578,278)
Net increase in repurchase receivable (3,945,003) -
Net increase in other assets (139,109) (128,516)
Net decrease in due to other banks - (285)
Net increase in customer accounts 227,744 518,989
Net decrease in other liabilities (3,782) (29,771)
Net cash used in operating activities (8,986,668) (11,389)
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of investment securities held to maturity 1" (6,064,773) (22,065,234)
Proceeds from redemption of investment securities held to maturity 11 10,600,000 18,336,455
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 12 (197,159) (45,196)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment and

intangible assets 3,997 (19,847)
Net cash from/(used in) investing activities 4,342,065 (3,793,822)
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 17 5,000,000 4,990,000
Dividends paid 25 (276,844) (91,926)
Net cash from financing activities 4,723,156 4,898,074
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (12,118) (10,566)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 66,435 1,082,297
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 3,778,944 2,696,647
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 7 3,845,379 3,778,944

The acompanying notes on pages from 5 to 49 are the integral part of these financial statements.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

1. Introduction

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
for the year ended 31 December 2012 for Associated Bank Kazakhstan Ziraat International Bank Joint Stock
Company (“Bank”).

Principal activity. The Bank was established in the Republic of Kazakhstan in 1993 under the laws of the
Republic of Kazakhstan. The Bank's activity is regulated by the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan ("the
NBRK") under the license #163 dated 29 December 2007.

The principal activities of the Bank are attracting deposits and maintenance of customer accounts, lending and
issuing guarantees, cash and settlement operations and operations with securities and foreign currencies.

Registered address and place of business. The Bank's registered address is: Republic of Kazakhstan, Almaty,
132, Klochkov Str.

As at 31 December 2012 the Bank had two branches: in Astana and Shymkent, Republic of Kazakhstan
(31 December 2011: 2 branches in Astana and Shymkent, Republic of Kazakhstan).

Shareholders. The Bank's major shareholder is T.C.Ziraat Bankasi A.S ("the Shareholder” or "the Parent Bank")
located in Turkey, Ankara. Detailed information on transactions with the related parties is disclosed in Note 32.

As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 the Bank’s shareholders were:

2012 2011
% %

Shareholders
T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S. 99.58% 99.37%
Emlak Pazarlama Insaat Proje Yonetimi ve Ticaret A.S 0.25% 0.37%
T. Emlak Bankasi A.S. Munzam Sosyal Guvenlik Ve Yardim Vakfi 0.17% 0.26%
Total 100% 100%

2. Operating Environment of the Bank

Republic of Kazakhstan. The economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan continues to display characteristics of an
emerging market. These characteristics include, but are not limited to, the existence of a currency that is not freely
convertible outside of the country, a low level of liquidity in the public and private debt and equity markets and lack
of market conformity and transparency.

The economy of the Republic of Kazakhstan, suffered from the global financial crisis of 2008 and 2009,
experienced a moderate recovery in 2011 and 2012 with increases of GDP by 7% in both years. Inflation in 2012
was 6% (2011: 8.5%).The recovery was accompanied by a gradual increase of household incomes, lower
refinancing rates, stabilisation of the exchange rate of the Kazakhstani Tenge against major foreign currencies,
and increased money market liquidity levels.

Additionally, the banking sector in Kazakhstan is particularly impacted by political, legislative, fiscal and regulatory
developments in the Republic. The prospects for future economic stability in Kazakhstan in 2012-2013 are largely
dependent upon the effectiveness of a range of measures undertaken by the Government. There remains the
possibility of unpredictable changes in the financial and economic environment that may have an adverse effect
on the Bank's operations.

Management is unable to predict all developments which could have an impact on the banking sector and wider
economy and consequently what effect, if any, they could have on the future financial position of the Bank.
Management believes it is taking all the necessary measures to support the sustainability and development of the
Bank’s business.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation. These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards ("IFRS") on the basis of historical cost convention. The principal accounting policies applied
in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the periods presented.

Financial instruments — key measurement terms. Depending on their classification financial instruments are
carried at fair value or amortised cost as described below.

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable,
willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Fair value is the current bid price for financial assets and the current
asking price for financial liabilities which are quoted in an active market. For assets and liabilities with offsetting
market risks, the Bank may use mid-market prices as a basis for establishing fair values for the offsetting risk
positions, and apply the bid or asking price to the net open position as appropriate. A financial instrument is
regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange or
other institution, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length
basis.

Valuation techniques such as discounted cash flow models or models based on recent arm’s length transactions
or consideration of financial data of the investees, are used to measure at fair value certain financial instruments
for which external market pricing information is not available. Valuation techniques may require assumptions not
supported by observable market data. Disclosures are made in these financial statements if changing any such
assumptions to a reasonably possible alternative would result in significantly different profit, income, total assets
or total liabilities.

Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a
financial instrument. An incremental cost is one that would not have been incurred if the transaction had not taken
place. Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents (including employees acting as selling
agents), advisors, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities exchanges, and transfer
taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include debt premiums or discounts, financing costs or internal
administrative or holding costs.

Amortised cost is the amount at which the financial instrument was recognised at initial recognition less any
principal repayments, plus accrued interest, and for financial assets less any write-down for incurred impairment
losses. Accrued interest includes amortisation of transaction costs deferred at initial recognition and of any
premium or discount to maturity amount using the effective interest method. Accrued interest income and accrued
interest expense, including both accrued coupon and amortised discount or premium (including fees deferred at
origination, if any), are not presented separately and are included in the carrying values of related items in the
statement of financial position.

The effective interest method is a method of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period, so as to achieve a constant periodic rate of interest (effective interest rate) on the carrying amount. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts (excluding
future credit losses) through the expected life of the financia! instrument or a shorter period, if appropriate, to the
net carrying amount of the financial instrument. The effective interest rate discounts cash flows of variable interest
instruments to the next interest repricing date, except for the premium or discount which reflects the credit spread
over the floating rate specified in the instrument, or other variables that are not reset to market rates. Such
premiums or discounts are amortised over the whole expected life of the instrument. The present value calculation
includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate.

Initial recognition of financial instruments. are initially recorded at fair value. All other financial instruments are
initially recorded at fair value plus transaction costs. Fair value at initial recognition is best evidenced by the
transaction price. A gain or loss on initial recognition is only recorded if there is a difference between fair value
and transaction price which can be evidenced by other observable current market transactions in the same
instrument or by a valuation technique whose inputs include only data from observable markets.

All purchases and sales of financial assets that require delivery within the time frame established by regulation or
market convention (“regular way” purchases and sales) are recorded at trade date, which is the date on which the
Bank commits to deliver a financial asset. All other purchases are recognised when the entity becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets. The Bank derecognises financial assets when (a) the assets are redeemed or
the rights to cash flows from the assets otherwise expired or (b) the Bank has transferred the rights to the cash
flows from the financial assets or entered into a qualifying pass-through arrangement while (i) also transferring
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of the assets or (ii) neither transferring nor retaining substantially
all risks and rewards of ownership, but not retaining control. Control is retained if the counterparty does not have
the practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party without needing to impose restrictions
on the saleCash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents are items readily convertible to known amounts of cash and subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash and cash equivalents include mandatory reserve deposits with the
NBRK and all interbank placements with original maturities of less than three months. The minimum reserve
deposits with the NBRK are not subject to restrictions to its availability and therefore are included in cash and
cash equivalents. Funds restricted for a period of more than three months on origination are excluded from cash
and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised cost.

Due from other banks. Amounts due from other banks are recorded when the Bank advances money to
counterparty banks with no intention of trading the resulting unquoted non-derivative receivable due on fixed or
determinable dates. Amounts due from other banks are carried at amortised cost.

Loans and advances to customers. Loans and advances to customers are recorded when the Bank advances
money to clients to purchase or originate an unquoted non-derivative receivable from a customer due on fixed or
determinable dates and has no intention of trading the receivable. Loans and advances to customers are carried
at amortised cost.

Impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost. Impairment loss is recognised through profit or loss
as incurred as a result of one or more events (the “loss event”) occurring after the initial recognition of the financial
asset or affecting the value or period of the estimated future cash flows related to the financial asset or a Bank of
financial assets which can be reliably estimated. The primary factors that the Bank considers in determining
whether a financial asset is impaired are its overdue status and realisability of related collateral, if any.

The following other principal criteria are also used to determine whether there is objective evidence that an
impairment loss has occurred:

- any instalment is overdue due to deterioration of a borrower’s financial position and the late payment
cannot be attributed to a delay caused by the settlement systems;

- a borrower experiences significant financial difficulties as evidenced by the borrowers’ financial
information that the Bank obtains;

- a borrower considers bankruptcy or a financial reorganisation;

- there is an adverse change in the payment status of a borrower as a result of changes in the national or
local economic conditions that impact a borrower; or

- the value of collateral significantly decreases as a result of deteriorating market conditions.

If the terms of an impaired financial asset held at amortised cost are renegotiated or otherwise modified because
of financial difficulties of the borrower or issuer, impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate
before the modification of terms.

Impairment losses are recognised through an allowance account to write down the asset’s carrying amount to its
present value of expected cash flows (which exclude future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the asset. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash
flows of a collateralised financial asset refiects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for
obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not foreclosure is probable.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s
credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the allowance account through
profit or loss for the year.

Uncollectible assets are written off against the related impairment loss provision after all necessary procedures to
recover the asset have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously written off are credited to impairment loss account in profit or loss for the year.

Repossessed collateral. Repossessed collateral represents financial and non-financial assets acquired by the
Bank in settlement of overdue loans. The assets are initially recognised at fair value when acquired and included
in premises and equipment, other financial assets, investment properties or inventories within other assets
depending on their nature and the Bank's intention in respect of recovery of these assets, and are subsequently
remeasured and accounted for in accordance with the accounting policies for these categories of assets.

Credit related commitments. The Bank issues financial guarantees and commitments to provide loans. Financial
guarantees represent irrevocable assurances to make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its
obligations to third parties, and carry the same credit risk as loans. Financial guarantees and commitments to
provide a loan are initially recognised at their fair value, which is normally evidenced by the amount of fees
received. This amount is amortised on a straight line basis over the life of the commitment, except for
commitments to originate loans if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending arrangement and
does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination; such loan commitment fees are deferred and
included in the carrying value of the loan on initial recognition. At the end of each reporting period, the
commitments are measured at the higher of (i) the remaining unamortised balance of the amount at initial
recognition and (i) the best estimate of expenditure required to settle the commitment at the end of each reporting
period.

Investment securities available for sale. This classification includes investment securities which the Bank
intends to hold for an indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes
in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices.

Investment securities available for sale are carried at fair value. Interest income on available-for-sale debt
securities is calculated using the effective interest method and recognised in profit or loss for the year. Dividends
on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss for the year when the Bank’s right to
receive payment is established and it is probable that the dividends will be collected. All other elements of
changes in the fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is derecognised or
impaired, at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from other comprehensive income to profit or
loss for the year.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss for the year when incurred as a result of one or more events
(“loss events”) that occurred after the initial recognition of investment securities available for sale. A significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is an indicator that it is impaired. The
cumulative impairment loss — measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value,
less any impairment loss on that asset previously recognised in profit or loss — is reclassified from other
comprehensive income to profit or loss for the year.

Impairment losses on equity instruments are not reversed and any subsequent gains are recognised in other
comprehensive income. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available for
sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss for the year.

Sale and repurchase agreements and lending of securities. Sale and repurchase agreements (‘repo
agreements”) which effectively provide a lender's return to the counterparty are treated as secured financing
transactions. Securities sold under such sale and repurchase agreements are not derecognised. The securities
are not reclassified in the statement of financial position unless the transferee has the right by contract or custom
to sell or repledge the securities, in which case they are reclassified as repurchase receivables. The
corresponding liability is presented within amounts due to other banks.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repo agreements”) which effectively provide a lender's
return to the Bank are recorded as due from ether banks or loans and advances to customers, as appropriate.

The difference between the sale and repurchase price is treated as interest income and accrued over the life of
repo agreements using the effective interest method.



AB KZI BANK JSC
Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Securities lent to counterparties for a fixed fee are retained in the financial statements in their original category in
the statement of financial position unless the counterparty has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge
the securities, in which case they are reclassified and presented separately. Securities borrowed for a fixed fee
are not recorded in the financial statements, unless these are sold to third parties, in which case the purchase and
sale are recorded in profit or loss for the year within gains less losses arising from trading securities. The
obligation to return the securities is recorded at fair value in other borrowed funds.

Investment securities held to maturity. This classification includes quoted non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank has both the intention and ability to hold to
maturity. An investment is not classified as a held-to-maturity investment if the Bank has the right to require that
the issuer repay or redeem the investment before its maturity, because early redemption right is inconsistent with
expressing an intention to hold the asset until maturity. Management determines the classification of investment
securities held to maturity at their initial recognition and reassesses the appropriateness of that classification at
the end of each reporting period. Investment securities held to maturity are carried at amortised cost.

Property, plant and equipment. Premises and equipment are stated at cost except for land and buildings which
are stated at market value less accumulated depreciation and provision for impairment, where required.

Construction in progress is carried at cost less provision for impairment where required. Upon completion, assets
are transferred to premises and equipment at their carrying amount. Construction in progress is not depreciated
until the asset is available for use.

Costs of minor repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Costs of replacing major parts or
components of premises and equipment items are capitalised and the replaced part is retired.

At each reporting date management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of property, plant and
equipment. If any indication exists, management estimates the recoverable amount, determined as the higher of
an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. The carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable
amount and the impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss recognised for an asset in prior years is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s value in use or fair value less costs to sell.

Gains and losses on disposals determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount are recognised in profit
or loss.

Depreciation. Land and construction in progress are not depreciated. Depreciation on other items of premises

and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives:

Useful lives in years

Buildings 50
Office and computer equipment from3to5
Vehicles 5
Other premises and equipment from 3to 10

The residual value of an asset is the estimated amount that the Bank would currently obtain from disposal of the
asset less the estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age and in the condition expected at
the end of its useful life. The residual value of an asset is nil if the Bank expects to use the asset until the end of
its physical life. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of reporting period.

Intangible assets. All the Bank’s intangible assets have definite useful lives including capitalised software.
Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use
the specific software. Development costs that are directly associated with identifiable and unique software
controlled by the Bank are recorded as intangible assets if the inflow of incremental economic benefits exceeding
costs is probable. Capitalised costs include staff costs of the software development team and an appropriate
portion of relevant overheads. All other costs associated with computer software, e.g. its maintenance, are
expensed when incurred. Capitalised computer software is amortised on a straight line basis over expected useful
lives of 3 to 10 years.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Due to other banks. Amounts due to other banks are recorded when money or other assets are advanced to the
Bank by counterparty banks. The non-derivative financial liability is carried at amortised cost. If the Bank
purchases its own debt, the liability is removed from the statement of financial position and the difference between
the carrying amount of the liability and the consideration paid is included in gains or losses arising from early
retirement of debt. Obligations to return securities borrowed and sold to third parties are carried at fair value
through profit or loss.

Customer accounts. Customer accounts are non-derivative financial liabilities to individuals, state or corporate
customers and are carried at amortised cost.

Income taxes. Income taxes have been provided for in the financial statements using tax rates and in accordance
with legislation enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The income tax charge/credit
comprises current tax and deferred tax and is recognised in profit or loss for the year or directly in equity because
it relates to transactions that are also recognised, in the same or a different period in equity.

Current tax is the amount expected to be paid to or recovered from the taxation authorities in respect of taxable
profits or losses for the current and prior periods. Taxable profits or losses are based on estimates if financial
statements are authorised prior to filing relevant tax returns. Taxes other than on income are recorded within
administrative and other operating expenses.

Deferred income tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method for tax loss carry forwards and temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes. Deferred taxes are not recorded for temporary differences on initial recognition of an asset or a liability
in a transaction other than a business combination if the transaction, when initially recorded, affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period which are expected to apply to the period when the temporary differences will reverse or losses
carried forward will be utilised. Deferred tax assets for deductible temporary differences and tax loss carry
forwards are recorded only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the deductions can be utilised.

Uncertain tax positions. The Bank's uncertain tax positions are reassessed by management at the end of each
reporting period. Liabilities are recorded for income tax positions that are determined by management as more
likely than not to result in additional taxes being levied if the positions were to be challenged by the tax authorities.
The assessment is based on the interpretation of tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period and any known court or other rulings on such issues. Liabilities for penalties, interest
and taxes other than on income are recognised based on management's best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the obligations at the end of the reporting period.

Financial guarantees. Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Bank to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder of the guarantee for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. These guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions
and other bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts, other banking facilities and performance
under tenders.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at fair value on the date the guarantee was given. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Bank's liabilities under guarantees are measured at the higher of the initial measurement,
less amortisation calculated to recognise in the statement of comprehensive income the fee income earned on a
straight line basis over the life of the guarantee and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any
financial obligation arising at the end of the reporting period.

These estimates are determined based on judgement of the management. Any increase in guarantee related
liability is shown in the statement of comprehensive income within administrative and other operating expenses.

Trade and other payables. Accounts payable are accrued when the counterparty has performed its obligations
under the contract and are carried at amortised cost.
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Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Provisions for liabilities and charges. Provisions for liabilities and charges are non-financial liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount. They are accrued when the Bank has a present obligation (legal or constructive as a
result of past events) which has arisen before the reporting date. In addition, it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic benefits will be required for the Bank to settle the obligation, and a reliable
estimate of the amount of the obligation can be made.

Mandatory reserve and other reserves. Mandatory reserve and other reserves are accounted for in accordance
with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan for the Bank’s general risk, including future loss and other
unforeseen risk and contingent liabilities.

Share capital. Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of
consideration received over the par value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity.

Dividends. Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Dividends declared after the
end of the reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue are disclosed in the
subsequent events note. The financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS are the basis for payment of
dividends and other distribution of profit. Kazakhstan legislation identifies the basis of distribution as the current
year net profit and prior years retained earnings.

Income and expense recognition. Interest income and expense are recorded in the statement of comprehensive
income for all debt instruments on an accrual basis using the effective interest method. This method defers, as
part of interest income or expense, all commissions and fees paid or received between the parties to the contract
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Fees integral to the effective interest rate include origination fees received or paid by the Bank relating to the
creation or acquisition of a financial asset or issuance of a financial liability, for example fees for evaluating
creditworthiness, evaluating and recording guarantees or collateral, negotiating the terms of the instrument and for
processing transaction documents. Commitment fees received by the Bank to originate loans at market interest
rates are integral to the effective interest rate if it is probable that the Bank will enter into a specific lending
arrangement and does not expect to sell the resulting loan shortly after origination. The Bank does not designate
loan commitments as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

When collection of loans and other debt instruments become doubtful, they are written down to the present value
of expected cash inflows and interest income is thereafter recorded for the unwinding of the present value
discount based on the asset’s effective interest rate which was used to measure the impairment loss.

All other fees, commissions and other income and expense items are generally recorded on an accrual basis by
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual service provided as a
proportion of the total services to be provided.

Foreign currency translation. The Bank's functional cumency is the currency of the primary economic
environment in which it operates. The functional and presentation currency of the Bank is the national currency of
the Republic of Kazakhstan, i.e. ("Tenge"). At 31 December 2012 the principal rate of exchange used for
translating foreign currency balances was USD 1 = Tenge 150.74 (2011: USD 1 = Tenge 148.4), Euro 1 = Tenge
199.22 (2011: Euro 1 =191.72 Tenge).

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of transactions and translation of monetary
assets and liabilities into the Bank's functional currency at year-end market exchange rates are recognised in
profit or loss. Translation at year-end rates does not apply to non-monetary items, including equity investments.
Effects of exchange rate changes on the fair value of equity securities are recorded as part of the fair value gain or
loss.

Offsetting. Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention
to either settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Earnings per share. Earnings per share are determined by dividing the profit or loss attributable to owners of the
Bank by the weighted average number of participating shares outstanding during the reporting year.
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3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Staff costs and related contributions. Wages, salaries, contributions to the state pension and social insurance
funds, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses are accrued in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. In accordance with the legal requirements of the Republic of Kazakhstan, the Bank
withholds pension contributions from employees’ salary and transfers them into the employee’s designated state
or private pension fund. Upon retirement of employees, all pension payments are administered by the pension
funds.

The Bank does not have any legal or constructive obligation to provide further funding if the state or private
pension funds fail to make the pension payments.

4. Critical Accounting Estimates, and Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies

The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements and
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year. Estimates and judgements are
continually evaluated and are based on management's experience and other factors, including expectations of
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Management also makes certain
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, in the process of applying the accounting policies.
Judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements and
estimates that can cause a significant adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year include:

Impairment losses on loans and advances. The Bank regularly reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment.
In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the profit or loss for the year, the Bank makes
judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with an individual loan
in that portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in
the payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on
assets in the group. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling its future
cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash
flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

Tax legislation. Kazakhstan tax and customs legislation is subject to varying interpretations. Refer to Note 23.

Initial recognition of related party transactions. In the normal course of business the Bank enters into
transactions with its related parties. IAS 39 requires initial recognition of financial instruments based on their fair
values. Judgement is applied in determining if transactions are priced at market or non-market interest rates,
where there is no active market for such transactions. The basis for judgement is pricing for similar types of
transactions with unrelated parties and effective interest rate analysis. Terms and conditions of related party
transactions are disclosed in Note 32.

Going concern. Management prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. In making this
judgement management considered the Bank’s financial position, current intentions, profitability of operations and
access to financial resources, and analysed the impact of the 2009 financial crisis on future operations of the
Bank.
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5. Adoption of New or Revised Standards and Interpretations
The following new standards and interpretations became effective for the Bank from 1 January 2012:

upisclosures—Transfers of Financial Assets” — Amendments to IFRS 7 (issued in October 2010 and
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011). The amendment requires additional
disclosures in respect of risk exposures arising from transferred financial assets. This amendment is not
applicable to the Bank.

Other revised standards and interpretations: The amendments to IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of IFRS", relating
to severe hyperinflation and eliminating references to fixed dates for certain exceptions and exemptions, did not
have any impact on these financial statements. The amendment to 1AS 12 “Income taxes”, which introduced a
rebuttable presumption that an investment property carried at fair value is recovered entirely through sale, did not
have an impact on these financial statements.

6. New Accounting Pronouncements

Certain new standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2013 or later, and which the Bank has not early adopted.

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments Part 1: Classification and Measurement”. IFRS 9, issued in November 2010,
replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 was
further amended in October 2010 to address the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and in
December 2011 to (i) change its effective date to annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015 and (ii) add
transition disclosures. Key features of the standard are as follows:

e Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be measured
subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised cost. The decision is to be
made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the entity’'s business model for managing its
financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.

e An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and both (i) the
objective of the entity's business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and (i) the
asset’s contractual cash flows represent payments of principal and interest only (that is, it has only “basic loan
features”). All other debt instruments are to be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

e All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that are held for
trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable
election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses
through other comprehensive income rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains
and losses to profit or loss. This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are
to be presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.

e Most of the requirements in IAS 39 for classification and measurement of financial liabilities were carried
forward unchanged to IFRS 9. The key change is that an entity will be required to present the effects of
changes in own credit risk of financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss in other
comprehensive income.

While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015, earlier adoption is permitted.

IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement”, (issued in May 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2013), aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a revised definition of fair
value, and a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs

Amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” (issued in June 2011, effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012), changes the disclosure of items presented in other comprehensive
income. The amendments require entities to separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two
groups, based on whether or not they may be reclassified to profit or loss in the future. The suggested title used
by IAS 1 has changed to ‘statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income’. The Bank expects the
amended standard to change presentation of its financial statements, but have no impact on measurement of
transactions and balances.
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6. New Accounting Pronouncements (Continued)

“Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” - Amendments to IFRS 7 (issued in
December 2011 and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013). The amendment
requires disclosures that will enable users of an entity’s financial statements to evaluate the effect or potential
effect of netting arrangements, including rights of set-off.

“Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities” - Amendments to IAS 32 (issued in December 2011
and effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014). The amendment added application
guidance to IAS 32 to address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria. This includes
clarifying the meaning of ‘currently has a legally enforceable right of set-off and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.

Improvements to International Financial Reporting Standards (issued in May 2012 and effective for annual
periods beginning 1 January 2013). The improvements consist of changes to five standards. IFRS 1 was
amended to (i) clarify that an entity that resumes preparing its IFRS financial statements may either repeatedly
apply IFRS 1 or apply all IFRSs retrospectively as if it had never stopped applying them, and (ii) to add an
exemption from applying IAS 23 “Borrowing costs”, retrospectively by first-time adopters. IAS 1 was amended to
clarify that explanatory notes are not required to support the third balance sheet presented at the beginning of the
preceding period when it is provided because it was materially impacted by a retrospective restatement, changes
in accounting policies or reclassifications for presentation purposes, while explanatory notes will be required when
an entity voluntarily decides to provide additional comparative statements. IAS 16 was amended to clarify that
servicing equipment that is used for more than one period is classified as property, plant and equipment rather
than inventory. IAS 32 was amended to clarify that certain tax consequences of distributions to owners should be
accounted for in the income statement as was always required by IAS 12. IAS 34 was amended to bring its
requirements in line with IFRS 8. IAS 34 will require disclosure of a measure of total assets and liabilities for an
operating segment only if such information is regularly provided to chief operating decision maker and there has
been a material change in those measures since the last annual financial statements.

Unless otherwise described above, the new standards and interpretations are not expected to significantly affect
the Bank’s financial statements.

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents

31 December 31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Cash on hand 1,165,323 931,138
Cash balances with the NBRK (other than mandatory reserves) 2,140,907 1,847,229
Mandatory cash balances with the NBRK 157,878 143,948
Correspondent accounts with other banks 381,271 856,629
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,845,379 3,778,944

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances is summarised as follows at 31 December 2012;

Cash balances with Correspondent Total
NBRK including accounts with
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge mandatory reserves other banks
Neither past due nor impaired
- NBRK 2,298,785 - 2,298,785
- A1 rated (Moody's rating) - 345,081 345,081
- A3 rated (Moody's rating) - 874 874
- Ba2 rated (Moody's rating) - 15,665 15,665
- B rated (Moody's rating) - 19,651 19,651
Total cash and cash equivalents,
excluding cash on hand 2,298,785 381,271 2,680,056
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Notes to financial statements — 31 December 2012

7. Cash and Cash Equivalents (Continued)

The credit quality of cash and cash equivalents balances is summarised as follows at 31 December 2011:

Cash balances with Correspondent Total
NBRK including accounts with
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge mandatory reserves other banks
Neither past due nor impaired
- NBRK 1,991,177 - 1,991,177
- A1 rated (Moody's rating) - 826,406 826,406
- Ba3 rated (Moody's rating) - 17,262 17,262
- BB+ rated (Fitch rating) - 244 244
- A2 rated (Moody's rating) - 43 43
- Unrated - 12,674 12,674
Total cash and cash equivalents,
excluding cash on hand 1,991,177 856,629 2,847,806

8. Due from Other Banks

As at 31 December 2012 due from other banks represents a long-term deposit placed with OJSB Azer-Turk Bank
of Tenge 301,480 thousand and accrued interest of Tenge 251 thousand (31 December 2011: Tenge 296,800
thousand and accrued interest of Tenge 247 thousand). Interest rate on deposit is 6% p.a. with maturity of 18
months. Deposit was placed in foreign currency of USD 2 million.

0JSB Azer-Turk Bank does not have a credit rating. Interest rate analysis of due from other banks is disclosed in
Note 27. The information on related party balances is disclosed in Note 32. Fair value of due from other banks is

disclosed in Note 30.

9. Loans and Advances to Customers

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2012

31 December 2011

Loans issued to major customers 5,151,745 1,132,366
Loans to small and medium enterprises 2,362,584 1,285,549
Consumer loans 2,234,647 1,483,612
Mortgage loans 594,024 533,530
Total loans and advances to customers 10,343,000 4,435,057
Less: provision for loan impairment (548,061) (543,998)
Total loans and advances to customers 9,794,939 3,891,059
Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2012 are as follows:
Loans Loansto Consumer Mortgage Total
issued to small and loans loans
major medium

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge customers _enterprises
Impairment provision

at 1 January 2012 90,816 237,778 198,868 16,536 543,998
(Recovery of)/provision for

impairment during the year (4,655) 68,926 (17,197) (15.625) 31,449
Written off amounts - (16,634) (11,262) (966) (28,862)
Foreign exchange difference 32 479 910 55 1,476
Impairment provision at

31 December 2012 86,193 290,549 171,319 - 548,061
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9. Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

Movements in the provision for loan impairment during 2011 are as follows:

Loans Loansto Consumer Mortgage Total
issued to small and loans loans
major medium
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge customers enterprises
Impairment provision
at 1 January 2011 43,346 237,671 258,299 61,361 600,677
Provision for/(recovery of)
impairment during the year 47,338 48,252 4,479 (44,996) 55,073
Recovery - 61,088 8,825 - 69,913
Written off amounts - (109,385) (74,148) - (183,533)
Foreign exchange difference 132 152 1,413 171 1,868
Impairment provision at
31 December 2011 90,816 237,778 198,868 16,536 543,998
Economic sector risk concentrations within the customer loan portfolio are as follows:
31 December 2012 31 December 2011
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Amount % Amount %
Trade 3,543,514 34,3% 1,794,326 40,5%
Consumer loans 2,234,647 21,6% 1,483,612 33,5%
Production 1,524,695 14,7% 80,502 1,8%
Construction 1,235,290 11,9% 208,790 4,7%
Hotel business 893,428 8,6% - 0,0%
Mortgages 594,024 57% 445,488 10,0%
Printing industry 47,185 0,5% 32,899 0,7%
Mining/metallurgy 42,511 0,4% 41,912 0,9%
Education 36,178 0,3% 45,525 1,0%
Transportation and communication 1,550 0,0% 9,190 0,2%
Culture and art - 0,0% 15,478 0,3%
Other 189,978 1.8% 277,335 6,3%
Total loans and advances to customers before
impairment provision 10,343,000 100% 4,435,057 100%
Information about collateral at 31 December 2012 is as follows:
Loans issued Loans to Consumer  Mortgage Total
to major small and loans loans
In thousands of customers medium
Kazakhstani Tenge enterprises
Unsecured loans - - 23,664 - 23,664
Loans collateralized by:
- buildings 4,480,261 2,241,458 1,901,170 547,270 9,170,159
- guarantee letter 629,340 33,033 282,590 46,754 991,717
- other 42,144 88,093 27,223 - 157,460
Total secured loans 5,151,745 2,362,584 2,210,983 594,024 10,319,336
Total loans and advances
to customers before
impairment provision 5,151,745 2,362,584 2,234,647 594,024 10,343,000
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9. Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

Information about collateral at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Loans issued Loans tosmall Consumer Mortgage Total
to major and medium loans loans
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge customers enterprises
Unsecured loans - - - - -
Loans collateralized by:
- buildings 1,088,141 1,090,257 1,316,627 401,491 3,896,516
- guarantee letter 44,225 24,021 152,881 33,566 254,693
- other - 171,271 14,104 98,473 283,848
Total secured loans 1,132,366 1,285,549 1,483,612 533,530 4,435,057
Total loans and advances to
customers before impairment
provision 1,132,366 1,285,549 1,483,612 533,530 4,435,057
Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2012 is as follows:
Loans issued Loans tosmall Consumer Mortgage Total
to major and medium loans loans
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge customers enterprises
Neither past due nor impaired
- Loans and advances — standard 5,151,745 1,679,868 1,765,272 425,644 9,022,529
Total neither past due nor
impaired 5,151,745 1,679,868 1,765,272 425,644 9,022,529
Past due but not impaired
- less than 30 days overdue - 30,473 168,839 23,377 222,689
- from 30 to 90 days overdue - 93,672 23,211 24,697 141,580
- over 90 days overdue - 319,472 171,087 35,375 525,934
Total past due but not
impaired - 443,617 363,137 83,449 890,203
Individually impaired
(total amount)
- overdue from 90 to 180 days - - 35,055 - 35,055
- overdue over 360 days - 239,099 156,114 - 395,213
Total individually impaired
{gross) - 239,099 191,169 - 430,268
- Impairment provision for
individually impaired loans (75,365) (250,745) (88,686) - (414,796)
- Impairment provision, assessed
on the basis of portfolio (10,828) (39,804) (82,633) - (133,265)
Less total impairment
provision (86,193) (290,549) (171,319) - (548,061)
Total loans and advances to
customers 5,065,552 2,072,035 2,148,259 509,093 9,794,939
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9. Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

Analysis by credit quality of loans outstanding at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Loans issued Loanstosmall Consumer Mortgage Total
to major and medium loans loans
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge customers enterprises
Neither past due nor impaired
- Loans and advances - standard 1,038,906 751,833 943,196 384,365 3,118,300
Total neither past due nor
impaired 1,038,906 751,833 943,196 384,365 3,118,300
Past due but not impaired
- less than 30 days overdue 93,460 73,296 74,964 69,099 310,819
- from 30 to 90 days overdue - 15,649 4,199 45,176 65,024
- over 90 days overdue - 23,137 88,237 22,853 134,227
Total past due but not
impaired 93,460 112,082 167,400 137,128 510,070
Individually impaired
(total amount)
- less than 30 days overdue - 34,280 52,804 - 87,084
- 30 to 90 days overdue - 13,027 - - 13,027
- overdue from 90 to 180 days - 32,225 20,048 12,037 64,310
- overdue from 180 to 360 days - 49,100 81,389 - 130,489
- overdue over 360 days - 293,002 218,775 - 511,777
Total individually impaired
(gross) - 421,634 373,016 12,037 806,687
- Impairment provision for
individually impaired loans - (179,547) (147,587) (843) (327,977)
- Impairment provision, assessed
on the basis of portfolio (90,816) (58,231) (51,281) (15,693) (216,021)
Less total impairment
provision (90,816) (237,778) (198,868) (16,536) (543,998)
Total loans and advances to
customers 1,041,550 1,047,771 1,284,744 516,994 3,891,059
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9. Loans and Advances to Customers (Continued)

The Bank’s policy is to classify each loan as ‘neither past due nor impaired’ until specific objective evidence of
impairment of the loan is identified. The primary factors that the Bank considers in determining whether a loan is
impaired are its overdue status, financial position, debt prolongation or restructuring and realisability of related
collateral, if any. As a result, the Bank presents above an ageing analysis of loans that are individually determined

to be impaired.

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2012:

31 December 2012

31 December 2012

Over-collateralised assets

Under-collateralised assets

Carrying Fair value of Carrying Fair value of
value of the collateral value of the collateral

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge assets assets
Loans issued to major customers 4,896,494 12,717,747 255,251 255,251
Loans to small and medium enterprises 2,328,536 7,877,100 34,048 34,048
Consumer loans 1,946,126 7,040,057 288,521 279,939
Mortgage loans 575,164 1,678,200 18,860 18,860

The effect of collateral at 31 December 2011:

31 December 2011

31 December 2011

Over-collateralised assets

Under-collateralised assets

Carrying Fair value of Carrying Fair value of
value of the collateral value of the collateral

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge assets assets
Consumer loans 1,483,612 4,439,750 - -
Loans to small and medium enterprises 1,285,549 4,656,117 - -
Loans issued to major customers 1,132,366 3,816,813 - -
Mortgage loans 533,530 1,087,974 - -

Interest rate analysis of loans and advances to customers is disclosed in Note 37. The information on related party
balances is disclosed in Note 32. Fair value is disclosed in Note 30.

10. Repurchase Receivables

Repurchase receivables represents securities sold under sale and repurchase agreements which the counterparty
has the right, by contract or custom, to sell or repledge. The repurchase agreements are short-term in nature and

mature by 31 January 2013:

31 December 31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan 3,947,949 -
Total repurchase receivables 3,947,949 -

Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan are neither past due or impaired and have a rating

BBB+ (Moody's).
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11. Investment Securities Held to Maturity

31 December 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan 499,511 5,300,000
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of Kazakhstan 2,648,029 2,334,354
Total investment securities held to maturity 3,147,540 7,634,354

Notes of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan and Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the Republic of

Kazakhstan are neither past due or impaired and have a rating BBB+ (Moody's).

The movement in investment securities held to maturity is as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Gross amount at 1 January 7,634,354 3,894,339
Additions 6,064,773 22,065,234
Redemption (10,600,000) (18,336,455)
Interest income accrual 170,550 83,226
Interest income received (122,137) (71,990)
Gross amount at 31 December 3,147,540 7,634,354

Fair value is disclosed in Note 30.
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12. Property, Plant and Equipment

Land Buildings and Construction Office and Vehicles Other Total

In thousands of constructions  in progress computer

Kazakhstani Tenge equipment
Cost at

31 December 2010 274,400 379,930 72,671 15,568 19,388 67,943 829,900
Accumulated

depreciation - (16,446) - (7,326) (13,641) (34,434) (71,847)
Carrying value at

31 December 2010 274,400 363,434 72,671 8,242 5,747 33,509 758,053
Additions - - - 13,434 10,880 20,860 45,174
Disposals - (42,000) (13,331) (774) - (94) (56,199)
Net transfers - - 2,770 - - - ,
Depreciation charges -

(Note 22) - (2,371) - (8,423) (5,429) (12,181) (28,934)
Carrying value at

31 December 2011 274,400 319,113 62,110 12,479 11,208 42,094 721,404
Cost at

31 December 2011 274,400 337,930 62,110 28,228 30,268 88,709 821,645
Accumulated

depreciation - (18,817) - (15,749)  (19,060) (46,615) (100,241)
Carrying value at

31 December 2011 274,400 319,113 62,110 12,479 11,208 42,094 721,404
Additions - - - 51,342 7,074 25,602 84,018
Disposals - (256) - (7,128) (2,290) (6,956) (16,630)
Net transfers - - - 104 - (104) -
Revaluation (loss)/

surplus (5,969) 11,652 - - - - 5,683
Depreciation charge

(Note 22) - (13,821) - (12,791) (2,174) (6,918} (35,704)
Impairment charge to

profit or loss - - (58,105) - - - (58,105)
Carrying value at

31 December 2012 268,431 316,688 4,005 44,006 13,818 53,718 700,666
Cost at

31 December 2012 268,431 349,326 4,005 72,546 35,052 107,251 836,611
Accumulated

depreciation - (32,638) - (28,540)  (21,234) (53,533) (135,945)
Carrying value at

31 December 2012 268,431 316,688 4,005 44,006 13,818 53,718 700,666
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13. Intangible Assets

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Software licenses wip Total
Cost at 31 December 2010 36,161 - 36,161
Accumulated amortization (21,243) - (21,243)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2010 14,918 - 14,918
Additions 19,848 - 19,848
Disposals (488) - (488)
Amortization charges (Note 22) (3,518) - (3,518)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 30,760 - 30,760
Cost at 31 December 2011 55,522 - 55,522
Accumulated amortization (24,762) - (24,762)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2011 30,760 - 30,760
Additions 11,634 101,507 113,141
Disposals (625) - (625)
Amortization charges (Note 22) (5,980) - (5,980)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 35,789 101,507 137,296
Cost at 31 December 2012 66,530 101,507 168,037
Accumulated amortization (30,741) - (30,741)
Carrying amount at 31 December 2012 35,789 101,507 137,296

Additions in work-in-progress represent ABIS software acquired from Colvir Software Solution LTD (Great Britain).
As at 31 December 2012 several modules of the software are still in the finalization stage.

14. Other Assets

31 December 31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Other financial assets

Securities 7,001 7,001
Other banking debtors 6,396 6,527
Fee and commissions receivable 4,662 4,746
Guarantees receivable - 399
Total other financial assets 18,059 18,673
Other non-financial assets

Repossessed collateral for non-payments 689,574 558,330
Prepaid taxes 29,767 25,348
Prepayment for utilities 21,251 7,586
Prepayments for services 8,150 3,614
Other 5,815 1,130
Total other non-financial assets 754,557 596,008
Total other assets 772,616 614,681
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14. Other Assets (Continued)

Repossessed collateral for non-payments represent real estate objects received by the Bank as settlement of
overdue loans. Bank expects to realize these assets in the foreseeable future. These assets do not meet the

definition of non-current assets held for sale and classified as inventory
“Inventories”. These assets are initially recognized at fair value on acquisition.

in accordance with IFRS (IAS 2),

It is expected that other assets except repossessed collateral for non-payments as at 31 December 2012 will be
settled during twelve months after year-end (31 December 2011: during twelve months after year-end).

15. Customer Accounts

31 December 31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
State and public organizations

- Current/settlement accounts 185,342 177,985
Other legal entities

- Current/settlement accounts 3,433,532 3,612,045
- Term deposits 105,582 114,732
Individuals

- Current/settlement accounts 1,666,718 1,241,094
- Term deposits 74,638 92,217
Total customer accounts 5,465,812 5,238,073

Refer to Note 30 for fair value of each category of customer accounts.

Interest rate analysis on customer

accounts is detailed in Note 27. Information on related party transactions is disclosed in Note 32.

Customer accounts by industries are as follows:

31 December % 31 December %
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Individuals 1,741,356 32% 1,333,311 26%
Trade and services 1,342,687 25% 1,848,332 35%
Construction 1,032,732 19% 659,851 13%
Transportation and communication 754,943 14% 923,584 18%
Production 334,113 6% 230,039 4%
State organizations 185,342 3% 168,420 3%
Professional services 50,182 1% 45,689 1%
Sport and travel industry 10,268 0% 15,830 0%
Other 14,189 0% 13,017 0%
Total customer accounts 5,465,812 100% 5,238,073 100%
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16. Other Liabilities

31 December 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Other financial liabilities
Other creditors on non-operating activities 9,374 9,739
Guarantees issued 4,329 2,909
Total other financial liabilities 13,703 12,648
Other non-financial liabilities
Settlements with staff - 4,856
Taxes payable other than on income 13,740 869
Other prepayments 21 1,389
Total other non-financial liabilities 13,761 7,114
Total other liabilities 27,464 19,762

Fair value of each category of other financial liabilities is presented in Note 30. All of the above liabilities are

expected to be settled within twelve months.

17. Charter Capital

Ordinary shares Total
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge except for outstanding shares
number of shares {in thousands)
At 31 December 2011 10,000,000 10,000,000
New shares issued 5,000,000 5,000,000
At 31 December 2012 15,000,000 15,000,000

As at 31 December 2012 the Bank’s authorised, issued and outstanding share capital comprised 15,000,000
ordinary shares (31 December 2011: 10,000,000). Par value of each share is Tenge 1,000.

In accordance with a decision of the General Shareholders Meeting dated 13 August 2012, the Bank decided to
issue additional 5,000,000 ordinary shares. T.C. Ziraat Bankasi A.S., the Bank’s major shareholder made the cash

contribution of Tenge 5,000,000 thousand.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to

one vote per share at annual and general Bank shareholders meetings.
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18. Reserves

Presented below is a table of movements in the Bank's reserves:

Property, plant Reserve capital Other Total
and equipment reserves reserves

revaluation

in thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge reserve
Balance at 31 December 2011 225,062 631,335 391,379 1,247,776

Transfer of building revaluation

surplus to retained earnings (15,160) - - (15,160)
Decrease in reserve capital - (9,823) - (9,823)
Increase in other reserves - - 71,543 71,543
Balance at 31 December 2012 209,902 621,512 462,922 1,294,336

Decrease in reserve capital. The Bank's reserve capital at 31 December 2012 was Tenge 621,512 thousand
(31 December 2011: Tenge 631,335 thousand) and its decrease resulted from transfer of Tenge 55,795 thousand
to the Bank’s retained earnings in accordance with the decision of Board of Directors dated 27 December 2011
and transfer of Tenge 45,970 thousand from the Bank's retained earnings in accordance with the decision of the
General Shareholders Meeting dated 30 April 2012.

The reserve was formed under the laws of Kazakhstan, which sets the amount of not less than:

- The actual reserve capital generated during the previous reporting period;

« Part of undistributed net income of the Bank before payment of dividends on common shares equal to the
production of undistributed net income of the Bank before payment of dividends on common shares divided on
ratio of increase in assets and contingent liabilities, subject to the classification of the previous year to total
assets and contingent liabilities, subject to the classification of at the beginning of the previous year, but not less
than 0.1 and not more than 1, according to the NBRK.

The Bank had an excessive reserve capital as at 31 December 2011 and at the yearend adjusted balance of the
reserve to the correct amount to comply with regulation.

Increase in other reserves. In accordance with the changes in Instruction for Accounting Maintenance by the
Second Tier Banks and Joint Stock Company Kazakhstan Development Bank approved by the Statement of the
Management Board of the National Bank of the Republic of Kazakhstan dated 31 January 2011 Ne 4, the
difference between the loan loss provisions to be made in accordance with the Agency’s classification rules and
under the International Financial Reporting Standards is recognized in the account of statement of financial
position — Other Reserves of the Bank.

Decrease in revaluation reserve of property, plant and equipment. The revaluation reserve for property plant
and equipment is used to record increases in the fair value of land and buildings and decreases to the extent that
such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset previously recognised within other comprehensive
income. The revaluation reserve for property, plant and equipment included in equity is transferred directly to
retained earnings as the asset is used by the Bank.
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19. Interest Income and Expense

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Interest income

Loans and advances to customers 738,832 479,731
Investment securities held to maturity 126,590 83,226
Repurchase receivables 48,276 -
Due from other banks 18,189 4,728
Other investments - 1,008
Other 1,767 1,243
Total interest income 933,654 569,936
Interest expense

Customer accounts 773 1,714
Total interest expense 773 1,714
Net Interest income 932,881 568,222

20. Fee and Commission Income and Expense

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Fee and commission income

- Settlement transactions 320,251 272,105
- Cash withdrawal 133,349 110,103
- Guarantees and letter of credits issued 33,766 35,017
- Money transfer services 15,291 10,078
- Safe transactions 4,679 4,125
- Other 17,518 16,941
Total fee and commission income 524,854 448,369

Fee and commission expense

- Settlement transactions 18,163 16,411
- Other 5,544 4,560
Total fee and commission expense 23,707 20,971
Net fee and commission income 501,147 427,398

21. Other Operating Income

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Income on fines and penaties 20,657 6,746
Gain from disposal of property, plant and equipment 15,279 13,178
Grain from disposal of inventories - 3,580
Other operating income 3,358 2,316
Total other operating income 39,294 25,820
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22. Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Staff costs 441,553 384,277
Special reserves for receivables, not related to banking activities 61,756 -
Security and signaling expenses 49,005 43,476
Social taxes 43,792 38,874
Taxes other than income tax 41,013 39,824
Depreciation of premises and equipment 35,704 28,394
Communication and information services 31,800 26,562
Rent expenses 23,556 19,125
Repair and maintenance 18,747 13,831
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 17,255 42,000
Professional services 13,998 21,767
Membership contributions 9,314 8,471
General occupancy expenses 8,542 20,184
Cash collection 7,759 8,243
Software maintenance 7,169 11,326
Amortization intangible assets 5,980 3,518
Sponsorship 5,359 1,323
Stationeries and other office materials 5,021 4,786
Advertising and marketing 4,768 7,774
Customer expenses 4,342 6,116
Expenses on deposit insurance 4,298 4,870
Business trip expenses 3,848 3,317
Transportation 3,494 2,754
Representation expenses 2,461 -
Other 36,073 25,260
Total administrative and other operating expenses 886,607 766,072
Included in staff costs are social contributions of Tenge 9,120 thousand (2011: Tenge 7,807 thousand).
23. Income Tax
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Current income tax expenses 148,941 68,357
Deferred tax 16,046 5,011
Income tax expense for the year 164,987 73,368

The applicable corporate income tax rate is 20% (2011: 20%).

The management believes that the Bank operates in accordance with the taxation legislation regulating its
operation, however, there is a risk that the tax authorities can have other positions on disputable tax issues.
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23. Income Tax (Continued)

Presented below is the comparison of the theoretical income tax expense with the actual income tax expense.

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
IFRS profit before tax 864,527 396,173
Theoretical tax charge at statutory rate 20%; (2011: 20%) 172,905 79,235

Tax effect of items which are not deductible or assessable for taxation
purposes:

Non-taxable income on investment securities held to maturity (25,318) (16,645)
Non-taxable income on repurchase receivables (9,655) -
Not deductible recovery of provision for loans losses 2,371 11,609
Not deductible provision on construction-in-progress 11,621 -
Other permanent differences 13,062 (831)
Income tax expense for the year 164,986 73,368

Differences between IFRS and Kazakhstani statutory taxation regulations give rise to temporary differences between
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Tax effect of
movements in these temporary differences is recognised at the rate of 20% (2011: 20%).

2010 Charged/ 2011 Charged/ Credited to 2012
(credited) (credited) other
to profit or to profit or comprehen-
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge loss loss sive income
Tax effect of deductible
temporary differences
Other liabilities 7,797 (5,001) 2,796 (1,668) - 1,128
Recognized deferred tax asset 7,797 (5,001) 2,796 (1,668) - 1,128
Tax effect of taxable temporary
differences
Premises, equipment and
Intangible assets 34,606 (6,948) 27,658 5,908 1,138 34,704
Impairment provision on portfolio 72,502 6,958 79,460 8,470 - 87,930
Recognized deferred tax
liability 107,108 10 107,118 14,378 1,138 122,634
Net deferred tax liability 99,311 5,011 104,322 16,046 1,138 121,506
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24. Earnings per Share

Basic eamings per share are calculated by dividing net profit or loss attributable to owners of the Bank by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, excluding treasury shares.

The Bank does not have any treasury shares which can potentially dilute the eamings per share. Therefore, the diluted
earnings equal the basic earnings per share. Eamnings per share are calculated as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Profit attributable to shareholders-owners ordinary shares 864,527 396,173
Less dividends on preference shares - -
Net profit attributable to shareholders-owners ordinary shares 864,527 396,173
Weighted-average number of ordinary shares in issue 11,250,000 7,505,000
Basic and diluted earnings per share (in Tenge per share) 77 53

25. Dividends

All dividends are declared in Kazakhstani Tenge. Dividends payable are limited by the maximum retained
earnings of the Bank determined in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Kazakhstan.

2012 2011
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge Ordinary shares Ordinary shares
Dividends payable at 1 January - -
Dividends declared during the year 276,844 91,926
Dividends paid during the year (276,844) (91,926)
Dividends payable at 31 December - -
Dividends per share, declared during the year
in Tenge per share 37 18

In accordance with the Kazakhstan legislation, the Bank distributes the profit in the form of dividends on the basis
of the financial statements prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards.

26. Segment Analysis

Operating segments are components that engage in business activities that may earn revenues or incur
expenses, whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the operating decision makers and for which discrete
financial information is available. The operating decision makers of the Bank are the Management Board of the
Bank. The Management Board regularly uses for operational decision making and resource allocation financial
information based on IFRS.

(a) Description of products and services from which each reportable segment derives its revenue
The Bank is organised on the basis of one main business segment — corporate banking which represents direct
debit facilities, current accounts, deposits, overdrafts, loan and other credit facilities, foreign currency and

derivative products. The Bank also has retail banking which represents private banking services, private customer
current accounts, savings, deposits and consumer loans.
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26. Segment Analysis (Continued)

(b) Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities

Segment information for the reportable segments for the year ended 31 December 2012 is set out below:

Corporate Retail banking 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking 2012
Assets
Loans and advances to customers 7,072,480 2,722,459 9,794,939
Cash and deposits 4,147,110 - 4,147,110
Repurchase receivables 3,947,949 - 3,947,949
Investment securities held to maturity 3,154,541 - 3,154,541
Total reportable segment assets 18,322,080 2,722,459 21,044,539
Liabilities
Customer accounts 3,724,739 1,741,073 5,465,812
Due to other banks 1,026 - 1,026
Total reportable segment liabilities 3,725,765 1,741,073 5,466,838
Corporate Retail banking Total
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking
2012:
Interest income 904,870 28,784 933,654
Interest expense - (773) (773)
Net interest income 904,870 29,557 932,881
Recovery of/(provision for) loan impairment 64,271 (32,822) 31,449
Net interest income after recovery of/(provision
for) for loan portfolio impairment 936,319 29,557 964,330
Fee and commission income 316,216 208,638 524,854
Fee and commission expense (23,707) - (23,707)
Gains less losses from trading with foreign currency 258,481 - 258,481
Gains less losses from foreign currency translation (12,118) - (12,118)
Other operating income 39,294 - 39,294
Administrative and other operating expenses (886,607) - (886,607)
Segment resuilt 627,878 238,195 864,527
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26. Segment Analysis (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2011 is

set out below:

Corporate Retail banking 31 December
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking 2011
Assets
Loans and advances to customers 2,089,321 1,801,738 3,891,059
Investment securities held to maturity 7,641,355 - 7,641,355
Cash and deposits 4,075,991 - 4,075,991
Total reportable segment assets 13,806,667 1,801,738 15,608,405
Liabilities
Customer accounts 3,979,016 1,259,057 5,238,073
Due to other banks 1,026 - 1,026
Total reportable segment liabilities 3,980,042 1,259,057 5,239,099
Corporate Retai! banking Total
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge banking
2011:
Interest income 531,419 38,517 569,936
Interest expense (798) (9186) (1,714)
Net interest income 530,621 37,601 568,222
Provision for loan impairment (52,731) (2,342) (55,073)
Net interest income after provision for loan
portfolio impairment 475,548 37,601 513,149
Fee and commission income 264,615 183,754 448,369
Fee and commission expense (20,971) - (20,971)
Gains less losses from trading with foreign currency 209,715 - 209,715
Gains less losses from foreign currency transiation (13,837) - (13,837)
Other operating income 25,820 - 25,820
Administrative and other operating expenses (766,072) - (766,072)
Segment result 174,818 221,355 396,173

¢) Reconciliation of income and expenses, assets and liabilities for reportable segments:

31 December

31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Total reportable segment assets 21,044,539 15,608,405
Premises and equipment and Intangible assets 837,962 752,164
Other assets 765,615 607,680
Total Assets 22,648,116 16,968,249
Total reportable segment liabilities 5,466,838 5,239,099
Deferred income tax liability 121,506 104,322
Other liabilities 27,464 19,762
Total Liabilities 5,615,808 5,363,183
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26. Segment Analysis (Continued)

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Total segment result 864,527 396,173
Income tax expense (164,987) (73,368)
Total profit for the year 699,540 322,805

The Bank’s income is generated in Kazakhstan. Geographical areas of operations of the Bank are reported in
Note 27 of these financial statements based on the ultimate domicile of the counterparty, i.e. based on economic
risk rather than legal risk of the counterparty. The Bank has no customers which represent ten percent or more of
the total revenues generated in 2012 (2011: nil).

27. Financial Risk Management

Risk is inherent in the Bank's activities. The Bank manages the risk through a process of ongoing identification,
assessment and monitoring, subject to risk limits and other internal control actions. The process of risk
management is critical to the Bank's continuing profitability and each specialist within the Bank is accountabie for
the risk exposures relating to his or her responsibilities. The Bank is exposed to credit risk, liquidity risk and
market risk, the latter being subdivided into trading and non-trading risks. The Bank is also subject to operating
risks.

The independent risk control process does not include business risks such as changes in the environment,
technology and industry. They are monitored through the Bank's strategic planning process.

Risk management structure. The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for identifying and controlling
risks; however, there are separate independent bodies responsible for managing and monitoring risks.

Board of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for the overall risk management approach and for
approving the risk strategies and principles.

Management Board. The Management Board has the responsibility to monitor the overall risk process within the
Bank.

Risk Management. The Risk Management Unit is responsible for implementing and maintaining risk related
procedures to ensure an independent control process.

Risk Controlling. The Risk Management unit is responsible for monitoring compliance with risk principles,
policies and limits, across the Bank. Each business unit includes decentralized unit responsible for the
independent control of risks, including monitoring the risk of exposures against limits and the assessment of risks
of new products and structured transactions. This unit also ensures the complete capture of the risks in risk
measurement and reporting systems.

Bank Treasury. Bank Treasury is responsible for managing the Bank's assets and liabilities and the overall
financial structure. It is also primarily responsible for the funding and liquidity risks of the Bank.

Internal audit. Risk management processes throughout the Bank are audited annually by the internal audit
function, that examines both the adequacy of the procedures and the Bank's compliance with the procedures.
Internal Audit discusses the results of all assessments with management, and reports its findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee.

Risk measurement and reporting systems. The Bank's risks are measured using a method which reflects both
the expected loss likely to arise in normal circumstances and unexpected losses, which are an estimate of the
ultimate actual loss based on statistical models. The models make use of probabilities derived from historical
experience, adjusted to reflect the economic environment. The Bank also runs worst case scenarios that would
arise in the event that extreme events which are unlikely to occur do, in fact, occur.
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27. Financial Risk Management (Continued)

Monitoring and controlling risks is primarily performed based on limits established by the Bank. These limits
reflect the business strategy and market environment of the Bank as well as the level of risk that the Bank is
willing to accept, with additional emphasis on selected industries. In addition the Bank monitors and measures the
overall risk bearing capacity in relation to the aggregate risk exposure across all risks types and activities.

information compiled from all the businesses is examined and processed in order to analyse, control and identify
early risks. This information is presented and explained to the Board of Directors, Management Board, Asset and
Liability Management Committee, Credit Committee, and the head of each business division. The report includes
aggregate credit exposure, credit metric forecasts, hold limit exceptions, liquidity ratios, interest risk ratios and risk
profile changes.

For all levels throughout the Bank, specifically tailored risk reports are prepared and distributed in order to ensure
that all business divisions have access to extensive, necessary and up-to-date information.

The Bank's Management Board and other relevant employees of the Bank meetings are regularly held to discuss
maintenance of established limits, investments, liquidity, and risk developments.

Risk mitigation. As part of its overall risk management, the Bank uses derivatives and other instruments to
manage exposures resulting from changes in interest rates, foreign currencies, equity risks, credit risks, and
exposures arising from forecast transactions.

The Bank actively uses collateral to reduce its credit risks (see below for more details).

Excessive risk concentration. Concentrations arise when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar
business activities, or activities in the same geographic region, or have similar economic features that would
cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other
conditions. Concentrations indicate the relative sensitivity of the Bank's performance to developments affecting a
particular industry or geographical location.

In order to avoid excessive concentrations of risks, the Bank's policies and procedures include specific guidelines
to focus on maintaining a diversified portfolio. Identified concentrations of credit risks are controlled and managed
accordingly.

Credit risk. Credit risk is the risk that the Bank will incur a loss because its customers, clients or counterparties
failed to discharge their contractual obligations. The Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the
amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual counterparties and for geographical and industry concentrations,
and by monitoring exposures in relation to such limits.

The Bank has established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible changes in the
creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions (Principle of monitoring). Counterparty
limits are established by the use of a credit risk classification system, which assigns each counterparty a risk
rating (Principle of limitation). Risk ratings are subject to regular revision. The credit quality review process allows
the Bank to assess the potential loss as a result of the risks to which it is exposed and take corrective action.

Exposure to credit risk arises as a result of the Bank’s lending and other transactions with counterparties giving
rise to financial assets.

Risk mitigation and limitation policy. The Bank manages, establishes the limits and controls the credit risk
concentration wherever it is identified — in particular, in terms of individual counterparties and groups and industry
sectors.

The Bank controls the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in relation to one
borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to geographical and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving
basis and subject to an annual or more frequent review. Credit risk limits on products, industries and countries are
annually approved by the Bank's Board.

Exposure to credit risk is managed through regular analysis of the current and potential borrowers’ ability to repay the
interest and principal amount and through changes in credit limits, if applicable.
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Presented below are other specific control methods and measures for mitigation of credit risk.

(a) Collateral. The Bank uses a range of methodologies and practices to mitigate the credit risk.
The most common of them is to receive the collateral for loans issued which is generally accepted banking practice. The
Bank applies the instructions on acceptability of the special groups of collateral or credit risk mitigation.

Presented below are the main types of collateral on loans and advances:

e guarantee letters;

¢  buildings;
equipment;
e  deposits;

* housing;

Collateral in the form of guarantees for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the type of
instrument. Debt securities, treasury bonds and other acceptable securities usually are not collaterised.

(b) Limits. The Bank's Credit Committee makes the decision on issue of borrowing within the limits provided by the
Board of Directors. For borrowings exceeding the limits the Bank requests the individual decision of the Board of
Directors.

(¢c) Risk concentration for financial assets exposed to credit risk. The Bank's management is focused on
the risk concentration:

e Maximum risk amount for one borrower or borrowers group — not exceeding 25% of the Bank’s equity;

e  Maximum risk amount for unsecured loans — not exceeding 10% of the Bank's equity;

o The Bank's aggregate risk amount for one borrower (each risk exceeding 10% of the Bank’s
equity) should not exceed the Bank’s equity for more than five times;

e Maximum risk amount for borrowers which have the special relations with the Bank — not exceeding 10% of
the Bank’s equity;

e  Aggregate risk amount for borrowers which have the special relations with the Bank should not exceed the
Bank’s equity;

Impairment and provisioning policy. internal and external rating systems described above are mainly focused on
reflection of the credit quality from the commencement of lending and investment activities. On the contrary, for the
purposes of financial statements, the impairment provisions are recognized only in terms of loss incurred at the reporting
date on the basis of the objective evidences of impairment. Since the different methodologies are used, loss incurred on
loans and stated in the financial statements is usually lower than loss determined by the expected loss model used for
the purposes of internal management and compliance with the bank instructions.

Internal assessment mechanism allows the management to determine whether the objective evidence of impairment
exists according to IAS 39 on the basis of the following criteria established by the Bank:
o Delay in contract repayment of principal or interest;

o Difficulties entailed by the borrower in terms of cash flows (e.g. independence rate, net profit share of sales
amount);

e  Violation of loan agreements or conditions;
e |nitiation of bankruptcy procedures;

e Decrease in collateral value;

The Bank’s policy envisages the examination of the individual financial assets exceeding the determined materiality
threshold at least once a year under the circumstances. Impairment provisions on individually assessed accounts are
determined through assessment of loss incurred at the reporting date for each case and applied to all individually
significant accounts.
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Such assessment usually covers the current coliateral (including its foreclosure possibility) and expected repayments on
individual account.

Aggregate impairment provisions are made for: portfolio of identical assets which on individual basis are lower than
materiality level, and (i) loss incurred but not identified using the historical experience, judgements and statistic
methods.

The Bank's maximum credit risk is stated within camying amount of financial assets in the balance sheet For
guarantees and commitments to extend credit, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the amount of the commitment.
Refer to Note 29.

The Bank reviews ageing analysis of outstanding loans and follows up on past due balances. Management therefore
considers it appropriate to provide ageing and other information about credit risk as disclosed in Note 27.

Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments is defined as the possibility of sustaining a loss as a result of
another party to a financial instrument failing to perform in accordance with the terms of the contract. The Bank uses the
same credit policies in assuming conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet financial instruments, through
established credit approvals, risk control limits and monitoring procedures.

Market risk. The Bank is exposed to market risk related to open positions in (a) currency, (b) interest and (c)
equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets limits on
the value of risk that may be accepted which are monitored on a daily basis. However, the use of this approach
does not prevent losses outside of these limits in the event of more significant market movements.

Currency risk. In respect of currency risk, management sets limits on the level of exposure by currency and in
total for both overnight and intra-day positions, which are monitored daily.

The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the end of the
reporting period:

Monetary financial Monetary financial Net balance sheet

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge assets liabilities position
2012

Tenge 19,467,986 3,903,098 15,564,888
US Dollars 1,487,360 1,531,020 (43,660)
Euro 64,569 34,281 30,288
Other 35,683 12,142 23,541
Total 21,055,598 5,480,541 15,575,057
2011

Tenge 13,463,719 (3,178,796) 10,284,923
US Dollars 1,942,592 (1,867,158) 75,434
Euro 198,132 (191,903) 6,229
Other 15,634 (13,890) 1,744
Total 15,620,077 (5,251,747) 10,368,330

The above analysis includes only monetary assets and liabilities. The Bank believes that investments in equities
and non-monetary assets are not considered to give rise to any material currency risk.
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The following table presents sensitivities of profit or loss and equity to reasonably possible changes in exchange
rates applied at the end of the reporting period relative to the functional currency of the Bank, with all other
variables held constant:

2012 2011

Impact on profit Impact on

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge or loss profit or loss
US Doliar strengthening by 10% (2011: 10%) 4,366 (7,543)
US Dollar weakening by 10% (2011: 10%) (4,366) 7,543
Euro strengthening by 3% (2011: 10%) (909) (623)
Euro weakening by 3% (2011: 10%) 909 623
Other currency strengthening (2011: 10%) (2,354) (174)
Other currency weakening (2011: 10%) 2,354 174
Total strengthening 1,103 (8,341)
Total weakening (1,103) 8,341

The exposure was calculated only for monetary balances denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Bank. Effect on equity will be the same as on the statement of comprehensive income.

Interest rate risk. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market
interest rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes
but may reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. Management monitors on a daily
basis and sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.

Interest rate risk is determined as exposure of the Bank's financial position to unfavourable fluctuations in market
interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest
rates on its financial position and cash flows. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may
reduce or create losses in the event that unexpected movements arise. Management monitors on a daily basis
and sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.

The Bank applies the gap analysis for management of interest rate risk. The Bank classifies the financial assets
and financial liabilities by the earliest from maturities or interest rate revision and determines the gap for each
class. Positive gap means that increase in interest rates with the determined maturity will result in increase in net
interest income (decrease in interest rates will result in decrease in net interest income). Negative gap means that
increase in interest rates with the determined maturity will result in decrease in net interest income (decrease in
interest rates will result in increase in net interest income).

When increase in interest rate is expected, the Bank increases the repayment periods, decreases the loans with
fixed rate, decreases the maturities of investment portfolio, and decreases investments in securities and credit
facilities.

When decrease in interest rate is expected, the Bank decreases the repayment periods, increases the loans with
fixed rate, increases the maturities of investment portfolio and credit facilities.

To mitigate the interest rate risk, the Bank uses reserves with inclusion into the loan agreements the conditions on
variable interest rates and early repayment; changes the interest rates on deposits; can sign the agreements on
swaps and options; as well as revises the structure of loan portfolio.
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The below table presents the model used by the Bank for monitoring of its exposure to interest rate risk at
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011. The table also presents the carrying amounts of the Bank's financial
assets and liabilities, categorized by the earlier of contractual interest repricing or maturity dates.

Demandand From1to Fromé6to From 12 Above Total
lessthan 6 months 12months months to 5 years
1 month 5 years

In thousands of
Kazakhstani Tenge

31 December 2012
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities

7,749,585 3,508,154 21,055,598
5,480,541

8,727,993 466,175 603,691
5,405,044 52,489 20,882 2,126 -

Net interest rates gap at

31 December 2012 3,322,949 413,686 582,809 7,747,459 3,508,154 15,575,057

31 December 2011
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities

4,133,094 4,718,159 887,057 5,494,295 387,472 15,620,077
5,145,112 821 95,426 10,388 - 5,251,747

Net interest rates gap at

31 December 2011 5,483,907 387,472 10,368,330

(1,012,018) 4,717,338 791,631

The Bank also determines the income from risk, i.e. effect of certain parallel change in interest rates on potential
income before taxation on non-trading portfolio for this period. The Bank classifies the financial assets and
liabilities at the reporting date into groups on expected maturities (but not for contractual maturities) or repricing
period. The Bank determines the gaps in maturities from one day to five years. The Bank applies the possible
fluctuations in interest rates in terms of gaps identified and determines the effect on profit.

If interest rates had been 200 basis points higher at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 200 basis points
lower), with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been Tenge 18,389 thousand higher
(31 December 2011: Tenge 11,364 thousand higher), mainly as a result of lower interest expense on interest
liabilities.

If interest rates had been 200 basis points lower at 31 December 2012 (31 December 2011: 200 basis points
higher), with all other variables held constant, profit for the year would have been Tenge 18,389 thousand lower
(31 December 2011: Tenge 11,364 thousand lower), mainly as a result of lower interest expense on interest
liabilities.

2012 2011
Tenge us Tenge us
in% p.a. Dollars Dollars
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 0 0 0 0
Due from other banks - 0,5%-6% - 0,5%6%

Loans and advances to customers

8-20% 6-20%

8-20% 6-20%

Liabilities
Due to other banks 0 - 0 -
Customer accounts:

Individuals

- current/demand accounts 0 0 0 0

- term deposits

Legal entities
- current/demand accounts
- term deposits

1-3.5% 0,5%-2%

0 0

1-3,5%  0,5%-2%

0 0

The sign “-* in the table above means that the Bank does not have the respective assets or liabilities in the

corresponding currency.
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Other price risk. The Bank is exposed to prepayment risk through providing loans, including mortgages, which
give the borrower the right to repay the loans early. The Bank'’s profit and loss and equity at the end of the current
reporting period would not have been significantly impacted by changes in prepayment rates because such loans
are carried at amortized cost and the prepayment right is at or close to the amortized cost of the loans and
advances to customers (2011: no material impact). The Bank’'s Treasury controls and authorizes the equity
instrument transactions, controlling dividend income from equity instrument. Sensitivity of assumptions used for

instruments revaluation is presented in Note 4.

Geographical risk concentrations. The geographical concentration of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities

at 31 December 2012 is set out below:

Kazakhstan OECD Other Total

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge countries
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,496,439 348,940 - 3,845,379
Due from other banks - - 301,731 301,731
Loans and advances to customers 9,794,939 - - 9,794,939
Repurchase receivable 3,947,949 - - 3,947,949
Investment securities held to maturity 3,147,540 - - 3,147,540
Other financial assets 18,060 - - 18,060
Total financial assets 20,404,927 348,940 301,731 21,055,598
Non-financial assets 1,592,518 - - 1,592,518
Total assets 21,997,445 348,940 301,731 22,648,116
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,026 - - 1,026
Customer accounts 5,465,812 - - 5,465,812
Other financial liabilities 13,703 - - 13,703
Total financial liabilities 5,480,541 - - 5,480,541
Non-financial liabilities 135,267 - - 135,267
Total liabilities 5,615,808 - - 5,615,808
Net balance sheet position at

31 December 2012 16,381,637 348,940 301,731 17,032,308
Credit related commitments (Note 29) 3,844,929 - - 3,844,929
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The concentration of the Bank's financial assets and liabilities at 31 December 2011 is set out below:

Kazakhstan OECD Other Total

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge countries
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2,946,472 832,472 - 3,778,944
Due from other banks - - 297,047 297,047
Loans and advances to customers 3,891,059 - - 3,891,059
Investment securities held to maturity 7,634,354 - - 7,634,354
Other financial assets 18,673 - - 18,673
Total financial assets 14,490,558 832,472 297,047 15,620,077
Non-financial assets 1,348,172 - - 1,348,172
Total assets 15,838,730 832,472 297,047 16,968,249
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,026 - - 1,026
Customer accounts 5,238,073 - - 5,238,073
Other financial liabilities 12,648 - - 12,648
Total financial liabilities 5,251,747 - - 5,251,747
Non-financial liabilities 111,436 - - 111,436
Total liabilities 5.363,183 - - 5,363,183
Net balance sheet position at

31 December 2011 10,475,547 832,472 297,047 11,605,066
Credit related commitments (Note 29) 1,845,848 - - 1,845,848

Liquidity risk. Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations when they fall
due under normal and unforeseen circumstances. To limit this risk, management has arranged diversified funding
sources in addition to its core deposit base. The management also manages assets with liquidity in mind, and
monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates an assessment of expected cash flows
and the availability of high grade collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.

The Bank maintains a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can be easily sold in the event of an unforeseen
interruption of cash inflows.

In addition, the Bank maintains an obligatory reserve with the National Bank of Kazakhstan, the amount of which
could, apart from maintaining the liquidity level, serve as the source of maintaining the minimum reserve

requirements. The Bank continuously monitors and complies with certain liquidity ratios established by NBRK.
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Analysis of financial liabilities by remaining contractual maturities

The tables below summarize the maturity profile of the Bank's financial liabilities at 31 December 2012 and 2011
based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations. Liabilities which are subject to the first notice are
treated as if notice is given immediately. However, the Bank expects that many customers will not request
repayment on the earliest date the Bank could be required to pay, and the table does not reflect the expected
cash flows indicated by the Bank's deposit retention history.

The maturity analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2012 is as follows:

Demand From 1 to From 6 to Over 12 Total
and less 6 months 12 months months
than
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,026 - - - 1,026
Customer accounts 5,390,315 52,489 20,882 2,126 5,465,812
Other financial liabilities 13,703 - - - 13,703
Financial guarantees 182,102 381,225 - 181,027 744,354
Undrawn credit lines 2,929,389 - - - 2,929,389
Total potential future payments
on financial liabilities 8,516,535 433,714 20,882 183,153 9,154,284

The maturity analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Demand From 1 to From 6 to Over 12 Total
and less 6 months 12 months months
than
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,031 - - - 1,031
Customer accounts 5,133,665 1,088 96,220 10,648 5,241,621
Other financial liabilities 12,648 - - - 12,648
Financial guarantees 75 58,272 284,538 793,731 1,136,616
Undrawn credit lines 1,845,848 - - - 1,845,848
Total potential future payments
on financial liabilities 6,993,267 59,360 380,758 804,379 8,237,764
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The Bank does not use the above maturity analysis without discounting to manage liquidity. Instead, the Bank
controls the contractual maturities at 31 December 2012 presented in the below table.

Demand From1to Fromé6to Over 12 Above 5 Total
and less 6 months 12 months months years

In thousands of than

Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,845,379 - - - - 3,845,379
Due from other banks - 301,731 - - - 301,731
Loans and advances to

customers 387,163 47,968 201,392 5,650,262 3,508,154 9,794,939
Repurchase receivable 3,947,949 - - - - 3,947,949
Investment securities held

to maturity 529,442 116,476 402,299 2,099,323 - 3,147,540
Other financial assets 18,060 - - - - 18,060
Total financial assets 8,727,993 466,175 603,691 7,749,585 3,508,154 21,055,598
Non-financial assets - - - - - 1,592,518
Total assets 8,727,993 466,175 603,691 7,749,585 3,508,154 22,648,116
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,026 - - - - 1,026
Customer accounts 5,390,315 52,489 20,882 2,126 - 5,465,812
Other financial liabilities 13,703 - - - - 13,703
Total financial liabilities 5,405,044 52,489 20,882 2,126 - 5,480,541
Non-financial liabilities - - - - - 135,267
Total liabilities 5,405,044 52,489 20,882 2,126 - 5,615,808
Net liquidity gap on

remaining maturities 3,322,949 413,686 582,809 7,747,459 3,508,154 15,575,057
Aggregate liquidity gap

at 31 December 2012 3,322,949 3,736,635 996,495 8,330,268 11,255,613
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The maturity analysis of financial instruments at 31 December 2011 is as follows:

Demand From1to From6 to Over 12 Above 5 Total
and less 6 months 12 months months years

In thousands of than

Kazakhstani Tenge 1 month
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,778,944 - - - - 3,778,944
Due from other banks - - - 297,047 - 297,047
Loans and advances to

customers 135,644 131,899 392,081 2,843,963 387,472 3,891,059
Investment securities held

to maturity 199,833 4,586,260 494976 2,353,285 - 7,634,354
Other financial assets 18,673 - - - - 18,673
Total financial assets 4,133,094 4,718,159 887,057 5,494,295 387,472 15,620,077
Non-financial assets - - - - - 1,348,172
Total assets 4,133,094 4,718,159 887,057 5,494,295 387,472 16,968,249
Liabilities
Due to other banks 1,026 - - - - 1,026
Customer accounts 5,131,438 821 95,426 10,388 5,238,073
Other financial liabilities 12,648 - - - - 12,648
Total financial liabilities 5,145,112 821 95,426 10,388 - 5,251,747
Non-financial liabilities - - - - - 111,436
Total liabilities 5,145,112 821 95,426 10,388 - 5,363,183
Net liquidity gap on

remaining maturities (1,012,018) 4,717,338 791,631 5,483,907 387,472 10,368,330
Aggregate liquidity gap

at 31 December 2011 (1,012,018) 3,705,320 5,508,969 6,275,538 5,871,379
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The Bank actively manages the capital adequacy to cover risk inherent in the business. The Bank's capital
adequacy is monitored using, among other measures, the ratios established by the NBRK in supervising the Bank.

During 2012 and 2011 the Bank complied in full with all its externally imposed capital requirements.

The primary objectives of the Bank's capital management are to ensure that the Bank complies with externally
imposed capital requirements and that the Bank maintains strong credit ratings and capital adequacy ratios to

support its business and to maximize shareholders' value.

NBRK capital adequacy ratio. NBRK requires banks to maintain a tier 1 capital adequacy ratio of at least 6% of
total assets and total capital adequacy ratio of at least 12% of risk-weighted assets. In 2012 and 2011, risk-
weighted assets calculated in accordance with the NBRK methodology were derived from the Bank's financial

statements prepared in accordance with NBRK methodology.

At 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011, the Bank's capital adequacy ratios on this basis were as follows:

31 December

31 December

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Tier 1 capital
Charter capital 15,000,000 10,000,000
Provisions 621,510 575,551
Retained earnings of prior years 88,932 30,030
Deferred tax liability 61,949 58,265
Intangible assets (1,234) (8,531)
Total tier 1 capital 15,771,157 10,655,315
Tier 2 capital
Retained earnings of current year 704,086 305,448
Revaluation reserves 209,902 225,062
General reserves - 55,793
Deferred tax liability 8,470 5,773
Total tier 2 capital 922,458 592,076
Total equity 16,693,615 11,247,391

The risk-weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of four risk weights classified according to the
nature of, and reflecting an estimate of credit, market, operational and other risks associated with, each asset and
counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees. A similar treatment is adopted for off-
balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more contingent nature of the potential losses.

The Bank's K1, K1-2 and K2 ratios were:

31 December

31 December

2012 2011
K1 0.70% 0.64%
K1-2 1.13% 1.48%
K2 1.20% 1.56%

The Bank does not have any external requirements established in respected of its capital.
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Tax legislation. The tax and customs legislation within the Republic of Kazakhstan is subject to varying
interpretations and frequent changes. Management's interpretation of the legislation applicable to the transactions
and activity of the Bank may be challenged by the relevant authorities. The Kazakhstani tax authorities may be
taking a more assertive position in their interpretation of the legislation and assessments, and it is possible that
transactions and activities that have not been challenged in the past may be challenged. As a result, significant
additional taxes, penalties and interest may be assessed. Fiscal periods remain open to review by the authorities
in respect of taxes for five calendar years preceding the year of review. Under certain circumstances reviews may
cover longer periods.

Tax liabilities arising from transactions between companies are determined using actual transaction prices. It is
possible with the evolution of the interpretation of the transfer pricing rules in the Republic of Kazakhstan and the
changes in the approach of the Kazakhstani tax authorities, that such transfer prices could be challenged. Given
the brief nature of the current transfer pricing rules of Kazakhstan, the impact of any such challenge cannot be
reliably estimated; However, it may be significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the
entity.

Kazakhstan tax legislation does not provide clear guidance on certain tax issues. From time to time, the Bank
adopts interpretations of such uncertain areas that reduce the overall tax rate of the Bank. As noted above, such
tax positions may come under heightened scrutiny as a result of recent developments in administrative and court
practices. The impact of any challenge by the tax authorities cannot be reliably estimated; however, it may be
significant to the financial position and/or the overall operations of the entity.

Capital expenditure commitments. At 31 December 2012 the Bank had contractual capital expenditure
commitments in respect software and other intangible assets in the amount of Tenge 106,162 thousand
(31 December 2011: nil).

Compliance with covenants. The Bank is not subject to any covenants.

Credit related commitments. The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a
customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the
Bank will make payments in the event that a customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same
credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on
behalf of a customer authorizing a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific
terms and conditions, are collateralized by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash
deposits and therefore carry less risk than a direct borrowing.

Undrawn credit lines represent unused portions of credit facilities approved for which credit agreements have
been signed with clients. The Bank does not have a legal commitment to extend unused credit lines.

Commitments to extend credit represent the Bank’s unconditional commitment to extend credit to clients.
The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit related commitments because longer-term commitments

generally have a greater degree of credit risk than shorter-term commitments. Qutstanding credit related
commitments are as follows:

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Liabilities on future placement of customer loans 2,929,389 1,845,848
Guarantees issued 744,354 1,136,616
Letters of credit 171,186 83,318

Total contractual commitments 3,844,929 3,065,782
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The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit, and guarantees does not
necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these financial instruments may expire or terminate without
being funded. Fair value of credit related commitments was Tenge 2,929,389 thousand at 31 December 2011
(31 December 2011: Tenge 1,845,848 thousand). Credit related commitments are denominated in the following

currencies:
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Tenge 407,032 856,733
US Dollars 3,437,897 2,209,049
Total 3,844,929 3,065,782
30. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
(a) Fair values of financial instruments carried at amortized cost.
Fair values of financial instruments carried at amortized cost are as follows:
2012 2011
Total fair Carrying Total fair Carrying
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge value value value value
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash on hand 1,165,323 1,165,323 931,138 931,138
Cash balances with the NBRK (other
than mandatory reserves) 2,140,907 2,140,907 1,847,229 1,847,229
Mandatory reserves with the NBRK 157,878 157,878 143,948 143,948
Correspondent accounts with other
banks 381,271 381,271 856,629 856,629
Due from other banks
Current placements with other banks with
original maturity of above three months 301,731 301,731 297,047 297,047
Loans and advances to customers
Loans issued to major customers 5,068,546 5,065,552 1,041,550 1,041,550
Loans issued to enterprises of small and
medium business 2,081,221 2,072,035 1,047,771 1,047,771
Consumer loans 2,148,259 2,148,259 1,284,744 1,277,047
Mortgage loans 509,093 509,093 516,994 516,994
Investments securities held to
maturity
Notes of the National Bank of the
Republic of Kazakhstan 499,063 499,511 5,283,169 5,300,000
Bonds of the Ministry of Finance of the
Republic of Kazakhstan 2,540,935 2,648,029 2,336,132 2,334,354
Other financial assets
Fee and commissions receivable from 10,878 10,878 4,746 4,746
customers
Other 7,182 7,182 6,926 6,926
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS
RECOGNISED AT AMORTISED COST 17,012,287 17,107,649 15,598,023 15,605,379
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2012 2011
Total fair Carrying Total fair Carrying

In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge value value value value
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
Due to other banks
Long-term placements with other banks 1,026 1,026 1,026 1,026
Customer accounts
Current/settlement accounts state and

public organizations 185,342 185,342 177,985 177,985
Current/settlement accounts of other

legal entities 3,433,532 3,433,532 3,612,045 3,612,045
Term deposits of other legal entities 105,582 105,582 114,732 114,732
Current/settiement accounts individuals 1,666,718 1,666,718 1,241,094 1,241,094
Term deposits of individuals 74,638 74,638 92,217 92,217
Other financial liabilities
Settlements with customers 13,703 13,703 12,648 12,648
TOTAL FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

RECOGNISED AT AMORTISED COST 5,480,541 5,480,541 5,251,747 5,251,747

Corporate loans were granted by the Bank at the rates similar to the market with an adjustment to a credit risk
associated with a borrower, therefore it is considered the carrying value of such loans is equal to their fair value.

(b) Analysis by fair value hierarchy of financial instruments carried at fair value.

Management applies judgement in categorising financial instruments using the fair value hierarchy. If a fair value
measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment, that measurement is a Level 3
measurement. The significance of a valuation input is assessed against the fair value measurement in its entirety.

Effective 1 January 2009, the Bank adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured
in the statement of financial position at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of
the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

(Level 3).
Note 31 December 2012 31 December 2011
Quoted Valuation Quoted price Valuation
price in an technique in an active technique with
active  with inputs market inputs
market observable in (Level 1) observable in
(Level 1) markets markets
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge (Level 2) (Level 2)
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Repurchase receivable 10 3,947,949 - - -
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS CARRIED
AT FAIR VALUE 3,947,949 - - -
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30. Fair Value of Financial Instruments (Continued)

(c) Reconciliation of movements in instruments belonging to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.
No derivatives were included as Level 3 instruments since they are traded in an active market.

(d) The methods and assumptions applied in determining fair values

Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between
willing parties, other than in a forced sale or liquidation. Fair value is best evidenced by an active quoted market
price of the instrument. Where quoted market prices are not available, the Bank uses valuation techniques. The
fair value of floating rate instruments that are not quoted in an active market was estimated to be equal to their
carrying amount. The fair value of unquoted fixed interest rate instruments was estimated based on estimated
future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar
credit risk and remaining maturity.

The total net fair value gain estimated determined using valuation techniques and recognized in profit or loss was
nil for 2012 (2011: nil).

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost which approximates their current fair value.

Loans and receivables carried at amortized cost. Fair value of floating rate instruments is usually equal to
their carrying value. The fair value of unquoted fixed interest rate instruments was estimated based on estimated
future cash flows expected to be received discounted at current interest rates for new instruments with similar
credit risk and remaining maturity. Discount rates used depend on currency, maturity of the instrument and credit
risk of the counterparty. Analysis of these discount rates is presented below:

2012 2011
Loans and advances to customers
Loans issued to major customers 4%-16% p.a. 6%-15% p.a.
Loans to small and medium enterprises 4%-16% p.a. 10%-18% p.a.
Consumer loans 8%-16% p.a 6%-20% p.a.
Mortgage loans 8%-16% p.a 3%-20% p.a.

For loans and advances to customers, fair value incorporates expected future losses while the carrying value
(amortized cost and related impairment) includes only incurred losses at the end of the reporting period.
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31. Reconciliation of Financial Instruments Classes to Measurement Categories

For the purposes of measurement, IAS 39, Financial Instruments: Recognition of Measurement, the Bank
classifies its financial assets into the following categories: (a) loans and receivables; (b) available-for-sale financial
assets; (c) financial assets held to maturity and (d) financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL").
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss have two subcategories: (i) assets designated as such upon
initial recognition, and (ii) those classified as held for trading.

Loans and  Assets available Assets at Total
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge receivables for sale FVTPL
31 December 2012
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,845,379 - - 3,845,379
Due from other banks 301,731 - - 301,731
Loans and advances to customers 9,794,939 - - 9,794,939
Repurchase receivables - - 3,147,540 3,147,540
Investment securities held to maturity 3,947,949 - - 3,947,949
Other financial assets 11,059 7,001 - 18,060
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 17,901,057 7,001 3,147,540 21,055,598
31 December 2011
FINANCIAL ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 3,778,944 - - 3,778,944
Due from other banks 297,047 - - 297,047
Loans and advances to customers 3,891,059 - 3,891,059
Investment securities held to maturity 7,634,354 - - 7,634,354
Other financial assets 11,672 7,001 - 18,673
TOTAL FINANCIAL ASSETS 15,613,076 7,001 - 15,620,077

All of the Bank's financial assets except Repurchase receivables are carried at amortized cost as at
31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011.

All liabilities in the statement of financial position are recorded at amortized cost.
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32. Related Party Transactions

Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control or one party has the ability
to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or
operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the

substance of the relationship, not merely the legal form.

At 31 December 2012 the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:

Shareholders Key Entities under Total
management common
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge personnel control
Cash and cash equivalents 15,797 - - 15,797
Due from other banks - - 301,731 301,731
Loans and advances to customers - 82,077 - 82,077
Customer accounts - 3,625 102,679 106,304
The income and expense items with related parties for 2012 were as follows:
Key Total
management
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge personnel
Interest income 25,871 25,871
At 31 December 2011 the outstanding balances with related parties were as follows:
Shareholders Key Entities under Total
management common
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge personnel control
Cash and cash equivalents - 75,426 - 75,426
Due from other banks - - 297,047 297,047
Loans and advances to customers - 712 - 712
Customer accounts 4,767 - 1,026 5,793
The income and expense items with related parties for 2011 were as follows:
Key Total
management
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge personnel
Interest income 7,231 7,231
Key management compensation is presented below:
In thousands of Kazakhstani Tenge 2012 2011
Current payments:
- Salaries and other current payments 50,090 53,807
- Social security payments 4,975 1,930

33. Events After the End of the Reporting Period

No significant events occurred after the reporting date.
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